IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

05/09/2022

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0471

No. DA 19-0471

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CARESSA JILL HARDY, aka

GLENN LEE DIBLEY,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, the Honorable James B. Wheelis, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
TAMMY A. HINDERMAN
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
Tammy.Hinderman2@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Were Glenn's rights to counsel violated when the State used incriminating statements deliberately elicited by his cellmates after they offered their services to the State? Can the State show the admission of those statements and the forensic evidence derived therefrom was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 2. Did the district court fully and fairly instruct the jury on the special credibility concerns regarding the testimony of jailhouse informants where the court refused to give Glenn's proposed cautionary instruction? Did that error prejudice Glenn's substantial rights?
- 3. Did the district court violate Glenn's rights to counsel and to present a defense and dilute the State's burden of proof when it prevented defense counsel from commenting on a missing prosecution witness during closing argument, where the State told the jury the person would testify, paraphrased his out-of-court statements during opening statement, and then chose not to call him to testify? Is that error structural, or, alternatively, can the State show it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

4. Did the prosecutors' repeated instances of misconduct, in conjunction with the errors above, collectively deprive Glenn of a fundamentally fair trial, thereby requiring reversal of his convictions under plain error review and the cumulative error doctrine?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 22, 2017, the State filed an Information charging Appellant Glenn Lee Dibley, a/k/a Caressa Jill Hardy (Glenn) with two counts of deliberate homicide in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-102(1)(a) for purposely or knowingly causing the deaths of Dr. Thomas Korjack and Robert Orozco in rural Frenchtown, Montana, more than four years earlier on or about March 26, through April 1, 2013. (D.C. Doc. 3.) The State later filed an Amended Information charging Glenn with two counts of solicitation to deliberate homicide in violation of Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-4-101 and 45-5-102(1) for encouraging two inmates, John Braunreiter and Bryan Palmer, to kill Karen Hardy (Karen), the State's alleged eyewitness to the homicides. (D.C. Doc. 41.) Glenn entered not guilty pleas. (Tr. at 15-16, 46-49.)

A jury found Glenn guilty on all counts after a nine-day trial. (Tr. at 2505; D.C. Doc. 369.) Glenn was sentenced to serve four concurrent life sentences in prison. (Tr. at 2527-28; D.C. Doc. 396, attached as Appendix A, at 4.) Glenn timely appealed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In early 2013, Korjack pulled out of a long-term, lucrative engineering project "without warning" and declared he was retiring and "going off the grid." (State's Ex. 34-2, 6/14/18 Jay D. Peterson Interview and emails, admitted at 1472; see also State's Ex. 1 at 1, admitted at 1472; Tr. at 1471-72.) Korjack withdrew almost \$270,000 in cash and was investing in gold and silver. (Tr. at 1469-70, 1482-83, 1551-53, 1576-77.) By the end of March, he had disappeared, along with his business associate and friend/roommate, Robert Orozco, who had been actively trying to avoid tens of thousands of dollars in child support obligations. (Tr. at 1143, 1146-47, 1334-36, 1453, 1455-56, 1592-93.)

This was not the first time Korjack decided to liquidate his assets and disappear. (See Tr. at 1000, 1132; see also Videotaped Deposition of Teresa Gorka [hereinafter Gorka Dep.] at 31:00-37:45, played for the jury at 2318.) In the late 1990s, while under investigation by the

Internal Revenue Service for owing over a hundred grand in taxes, Korjack researched how to forge documents and assume new identities, as well as the possibility of living in a foreign country. (Tr. at 1153, 1168-69, 1174-75.) His ex-wife testified he was using numerous false names and had many driver's licenses from different states, and she found a false passport in his deceased brother's name stuffed between the bookcases in her home. (Gorka Dep. at 43:00-43:34, 49:00-50:20; 58:40-59:40.) He also owned firearms and, in her words, Korjack "without guns was like [a] fish without water." (Gorka Dep. at 58:25-58:35.) Korjack and his family were detained after trying to drive a U-Haul across the Canadian border with a false passport, multiple guns, and a large amount of cash. (Tr. at 1132, 1168-70; Gorka Dep. at 31:00-37:45.)

Korjack pled guilty to tax evasion and served time in federal prison. (Def.'s Ex. 1 at 2, admitted at 1171; Tr. at 1172; Gorka Dep. at 45:35-46:15.) According to his son, prison "fueled [Korjack] to try to get even worse as far as his outlook on life and living honestly," and he got out "bent on revenge." (Tr. at 1178-79.) He was later convicted of embezzlement and returned to federal prison. (See Tr. at 2306,

2316-17.) Korjack's family broke all ties with him by the early 2000s. (Gorka Dep. at 51:55-52:10; Tr. at 1163.)

I. Karen's Story

Glenn and Karen met in the late 1990s¹ when her then-husband kicked her out of their car on the side of the highway and Glenn offered her a ride. She moved in with him within a week. (Tr. at 832-34.)

They had an on-again, off-again relationship for many years, which Karen claimed included a few instances of physical violence. (See, e.g., Tr. at 841-45, 850-51, 979, 982-83.) Their romantic relationship ended around 2010 after Glenn transitioned to a transgender woman and legally adopted their daughter, Z.H.'s, surname, but they continued to live together off and on. (Tr. at 846-849, 851, 873, 1468.)

Glenn, Karen, and Z.H. met Korjack in Wyoming. (Tr. at 851-52.)

They soon became close, moved in together, and began living as a

"family." (Tr. at 852-53, 860-61, 881, 1124-25.) Later, Glenn introduced

Karen to Orozco. They fell instantly in love, and she broke up with her

 $^{^1}$ Karen testified she was not good at dates and times, including being unable to state her daughter's birth date or year of birth. (Tr. at 836-37, 981.)

boyfriend and moved into the trailer home he was renting from Korjack a few days later. (Tr. at 861, 863-64, 872-73.)

Karen testified Korjack financially supported the "family," providing them with jobs, a place to live, and living expenses, and he would purchase larger items like vehicles and breast implants for them. The "family" members would "pay" Korjack back by working for him. (Tr. at 872-74, 877, 881-83, 885-86, 891-92, 987.) Karen was a stripper. (Tr. at 850-51.) Korjack was an engineer who worked on projects for an oil company and conducted home inspections for real estate transactions. (Tr. at 854-55, 886, 1449.) Glenn ran a construction crew and completed the repairs identified during Korjack's inspections. (Tr. at 854-55, 861, 885-87, 987, 991.) Orozco helped out with the inspections and repairs. (Tr. at 854, 861, 886-87.) At some point, it was discovered that an unqualified Pizza Hut employee showed up to conduct one of the home inspections, and it caused "stress" and problems for Korjack. (Tr. at 991-92, 2302-03.) There was no evidence indicating anyone paid income taxes.

Karen testified Korjack purchased a home for the "family" outside Frenchtown, Montana; however, the deed and purchase documents were in Glenn's name.² (Tr. at 873-77, 984-85, 1021.) Korjack, Glenn, and Z.H moved to Frenchtown first, and Orozco and Karen joined them when Korjack sold their mobile home. (Tr. at 870-73, 887-88.) Their son, R.J., was born a few months later. (Tr. at 870.)

Karen testified Korjack began withdrawing funds from his accounts and stowing cash, coins, and jewelry in the basement safe after she moved to Montana so that she and Z.H. "would not have to worry if something happened." (Tr. at 881-82, 886-85, 928.)

According to Karen, Korjack's relationship with Glenn changed after he learned Glenn may be romantically involved with another man. (Tr. at 888-89, 891, 893.) Korjack began "pulling back the resources from" Glenn, changed the combination to the safe, and asked him to return the deed to the house. (Tr. at 891-93, 928.) At the same time, Korjack was becoming closer to Orozco. (Tr. at 894.) Glenn told Karen he was afraid Korjack would either leave or kick Glenn out and he and Z.H. would be homeless. (Tr. at 894.)

² Korjack used numerous aliases and assumed business names and sometimes listed Glenn or Orozco as officers. (*See*, *e.g.*, Tr. at 1111-12, 1551-53.)

Karen testified one morning during spring 2013, she, Orozco, R.J., and Korjack, were in the basement bedroom discussing their plan to obtain the Frenchtown deed and find a new residence. (Tr. at 896-98, 902-03, 910.) Glenn came in, and an argument ensued. Glenn said something to the effect, "Do you want war? Then I'll give you war," pulled a black gun out of the pocket of his bathrobe, and started firing towards "Korjack, Orozco, the bed, the windows, the wall . . . just all over." (Tr. at 903-04, 907.)

Glenn started kicking and punching Karen; he stopped when Karen begged him not to hurt the children. (Tr. at 908, 910.) There was blood on the ground near Korjack's body and on the walls and the television located nearby. (Tr. at 907, 910, 913.) Orozco was lying on the bed; he appeared to be unconscious. (Tr. at 902, 913-14.) One of the windows was shot out. (Tr. at 906-07.)

For several days, Glenn slept in the living room and made Karen sleep on the couch. (Tr. at 915-16.) When she woke up the next morning, there was a bullet on her pillow. (Tr. at 919.) Glenn screwed the windows shut. (Tr. at 918, 920.) Karen did not feel free to leave because Glenn had a gun on or near him at this time. (Tr. at 916.)

Karen noticed a fire burning for "a long time" in the burn pit behind the house and saw bedsprings nearby. (Tr. at 921-23.) She later returned to the basement and the bodies and her bed were gone. (Tr. at 924.) She heard power tools going in the basement and the broken window was replaced. (Tr. at 925, 929.) Karen testified Glenn asked her to drive with him to move the bodies; she refused. (Tr. at 920-21.) During this time, she thought she heard Orozco's voice downstairs and was uncertain he was dead. (Tr. at 989.) She would return months later to find the safe had a hole in it and was empty. (Tr. at 929.)

Glenn's friend, Lawrence McKinley, testified Karen and R.J. moved into his home in early to mid-April 2013 on the same day they met. (Tr. at 1238-42, 1252-53, 1256.) Karen agreed she was free to leave by the time McKinley showed up. (Tr. at 916.)

Karen would call and visit Glenn while living with McKinley, and they all went on vacation together. (Tr. at 930-31, 1245-46.) She moved back to Glenn's home after about six months. (Tr. at 934, 1242.) Glenn later helped her move to eastern Montana. (Tr. at 939-40.) Karen eventually moved in with a man in Sydney whom she had met online

while still living with Glenn. (Tr. at 938-39, 943.) Z.H. remained with Glenn. (Tr. at 935, 941.)

No one who interacted with Karen after March 2013 testified she appeared to be in duress or was being held against her will. (*See*, *e.g.*, Tr. at 1201, 1222, 1230, 1244, 1253-54, 1311, 1350-52, 1363, 2264.) McKinley believed she was sad because her ex-boyfriend had recently left her. (Tr. at 1243.) Before she moved to eastern Montana, Karen left a note for Glenn's sister indicating R.J.'s father was "missing," and Glenn had either done something to him or was responsible for him not being around. (Tr. at 1295-97.) Glenn's sister did not take the note seriously. Glenn got mad, asking Karen why she was always trying to get him into trouble. (Tr. at 1301-03.) Still, Karen stayed with Glenn.

Karen remained in contact with Glenn by phone throughout the years. (Tr. at 944-45.) During one of these calls, she told Glenn she wanted to come home. For the first time, Glenn said no. (Tr. at 946.)

More than three years after Korjack and Orozco disappeared, during the summer of 2016, Karen walked into the Law and Justice Center in Sydney and asked about the witness protection program.

She reported Glenn killed Korjack and may have killed Orozco, and she believed Glenn might have come to kill her. (Tr. at 1375-77.)

II. The Jailhouse Snitches

A. Anton Orth

Glenn became Orth's cellmate on September 14, 2017. Orth was facing a 20-year prison sentence for rolling his car at 100 miles per hour while on meth with his family in tow. (D.C. Doc. 338, Final Order on Defendant's Motion to Suppress, attached as Appendix B at 11; Tr. at 1965-67.) He had a lengthy felony history and had cooperated with the government before. (App. B at 11, 23; Tr. at 1965-67.)

A few days later, Orth asked his defense attorney to "arrange negotiations" with the county attorney's office. (Supp. Hr'g, Def.'s Ex. B, Orth's 9/25/17 letter, at 1, admitted at 261 and 264, attached as Appendix C.) When that was not fruitful, he sent a letter to the prosecutors, explaining he was Glenn's cell mate and revealing Glenn had told him he "shouldna let [Karen] go." (App. C at 1.) Orth referenced his own criminal case number and reiterated his desire to "arrange negotiations." (App. C at 1.) He stated he was "at [the

prosecution's] disposal to the absolute best of my ability for as long as I am celled with [Glenn]." (App. C at 2.)

Detective Jared Cochran was the lead detective on the homicide investigation. (App. B at 7.) He first learned of Orth from this letter and set up a meeting. (App. B at 7-8; Supp. Hr'g, State's Ex. 1, admitted at 328, attached as Appendix D at 1.) Orth told Cochran that Glenn was "severely depressed" and suicidal when he first arrived. (App. B at 21; see also App. D at 2.) Glenn initially told Orth he could not talk about his case because his attorneys told him not to. (App. B at 11.) But, Orth revealed, he soon thereafter started asking Glenn direct questions about his charges; throwing "shockers" out, like trying to convince Glenn to reveal where the bodies were located before he committed suicide so that the families would get "closure"; "bait[ing] him" into providing information by challenging his statements; and talking to Glenn like he was "playing on his side" when he was not. (App. B at 23; App. C at 2-3, 7, 14.) Orth admitted he directly confronted Glenn, but Glenn maintained his innocence and had not acknowledged that Korjack and Orozco were dead. (App. C at 15-16.) However, Orth believed he "just [hadn't] peeled it out of [Glenn] yet."

(App. C at 5.) Orth explained Glenn was "getting to be more comfortable with" Orth, and Orth was working to "pull it out little" by little. (App. C at 16-17.) Orth admitted he had been "snooping through" Glenn's paperwork, including attorney-client privileged documents, and had ripped pages out of Glenn's notebook, which he gave to Cochran. (See App. B at 12-13, 32; App. C at 21-22; Tr. at 344-46, 421, 360-61, 1976-77.) Although Cochran denied knowing how Orth obtained information from Glenn, see App. B at 14, he agreed Orth told him he was "cultivating" Glenn to get more information about the homicides, App. B at 12, 22, and he knew Orth was "acting in an attempt to elicit . . . information" from Glenn and "was trying to obtain as much information as possible" from him, including by using his "CSI skills" against Glenn, Tr. at 252, 254, 274.

Cochran asked Orth to meet again to go over all of his notes of his conversations with Glenn, and Orth responded "give me about a couple weeks." (App. C at 19-20.) Orth understood Cochran was seeking "confirmation that [Glenn] states knowledge that the victims are in fact dead." (Supp. Hr'g, Def.'s Ex. E, Orth's 10/16/17 letter, admitted at 278,

attached as Appendix E.) Orth told Cochran he would pull additional pages from Glenn's notebook and send them to law enforcement.

(App. C at 22.) Cochran responded, "I am not telling you to do that," and "if it'[s] his property I would tell you to leave his property alone."

(App. C at 22; see also App. B at 8.) Although Cochran did not explicitly instruct Orth to try to obtain additional information from Glenn, he did not tell him not to do so. (App. B at 8, 12.) Because Cochran "did not influence" where Glenn resided or who resided with him, he knew when Orth left the interview, he was going back to the cell he shared with Glenn. (See App. B at 11, 13.)

After this meeting, Orth "called [Glenn] on" his claim that he did not know anything about Korjack's whereabouts, stating "I know they're dead and you know they're dead, don't you?" Glenn allegedly responded, "Yeah." (App. E, attached notes, 10/12 entry.) Shortly thereafter, Orth wrote the prosecutors to inform them Glenn had confirmed the victims were dead. (App. E.)

Cochran met with Orth a second time "because of some letters"

Orth had recently written. (Supp. Hr'g, State's Ex. 2, admitted at 328, attached as Appendix F, at 1.) Orth revealed he had been engaging

Glenn in conversations about the homicides and was being "a little bit swindly because [I] was talking God and being his friend and then writing all this stuff down." (App. F at 60.) Orth told Cochran, "I feel like . . . I am on the front line for you right now." (App. F at 57.)

At trial, Orth testified regarding the following statements he elicited from Glenn after his first meeting with Cochran:

- Glenn stated things were getting "worse and worse" for a few months between him and Korjack. He overheard Korjack and Karen conspiring to move out and take Z.H. with them, "so I stopped it – I almost killed Karen to[o] but she had the baby." (Tr. at 1957.)
- Glenn let Karen leave even though she had betrayed him before because of R.J. (Tr. at 1946-47, 1957.)
- Glenn admitted he put the bodies in a truck and moved them to "the pit" two or three days after the murders. (Tr. at 1960.)
- Glenn laughed out loud when reading Karen's interview and stated "You can't [open a gun safe] with a chainsaw. I didn't use a chainsaw." (Tr. at 1947-48.)
- Glenn asked Orth if he knew anybody in a foreign country who could send a note ostensibly from Korjack. (Tr. at 1960-61.)
- Glenn stated one of the alleged victims had called his defense team from Costa Rica. (Tr. at 1944-45.)
- Glenn offered to pay Orth to "make sure that [Karen] doesn't testify," but later stated he was only kidding. (Tr. at 1953.)

Cochran testified he made sure Orth understood he had not been promised anything in exchange for this testimony and "he was not necessarily going to get anything out of this." (App. B at 20; Tr. at 206.) But Cochran told the persons with the ultimate power to make such offers—the prosecutors—that Orth and the other jailhouse snitches were providing useful information. (App. B at 20; see also Tr. at 1838, prosecutor stating, "the buck stops with the county attorney, right? Detective Cochran doesn't make the deals. . . .") Cochran later admitted a simple phone call to a prosecutor about an informant "sometimes goes a long way . . . in a person's mind." (Tr. at 2195-96.)

Orth denied he obtained any benefit for testifying or that he interrogated Glenn for that purpose. (Tr. at 1934.) The court found Orth decided to become an informant because he did not like the way Glenn treated Z.H. (App. B at 22.) However, Orth had a reputation in the jail for dishonesty, Tr. at 2383, and pursuant to a plea agreement with the State, Orth received a sentence that resulted in immediate placement in the community, despite his lengthy criminal history and the serious charges in his case. (Tr. at 1935-36.)

Orth testified he overheard Glenn negotiating a deal with John Braunreiter, whereby Glenn would pay Braunreiter to "take out" Karen. (Tr. at 1954.) Orth previously testified he did not remember anything about this conversation, explaining to the jury here that he has a brain injury that causes memory loss and a long history of drug use. (Tr. at 1984-85.) Orth admitted he had no independent memory of anything not in his notes. (Tr. at 1984, 1997-98.) During deliberations, the jury asked to review Orth's notes; that request was denied because the notes were not admitted into evidence. (D.C. Docs. 365-66.)

B. Martin Hope

Martin Hope was Glenn's cellmate in December 2017 and January 2018. (Tr. at 372.) Cochran became aware of Hope after he sent notes of his conversations with Glenn to jail staff. (App. B. at 7, 24-25.) Hope was in jail on a federal hold and had many prior felony convictions. (App. B at 24.) He had a history of being dishonest, noting nobody in jail is honest. (App. B at 24, 31.)

When Cochran first met with Hope, he reported he had "stroked" or "fooled" Glenn into thinking he could trust Hope because he was a member of the Aryan Brotherhood who "knew everything there was to

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