10/05/2022

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0471

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. 19-0471

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CARESSA JILL HARDY, aka GLENN LEE DIBLEY,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable James B. Wheelis, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General MARDELL PLOYHAR Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 Fax: 406-444-3549 mployhar@mt.gov

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

Hardy again referenced Braunreiter's absence when arguing the State had not met its burden of proof. Hardy argued the State "completely failed" to meet its burden of proof on the solicitation charges "based on these jailhouse informants with their serious character flaws, one of whom didn't even participate." (Tr. at 2480.)

#### B. Standard of review

This Court reviews a trial court's interpretation of a statute or a constitutional right de novo. *State v. James*, 2022 MT 177, ¶ 9, 410 Mont. 55, \_\_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_.

#### C. Hardy waived this claim.

Although Hardy argued he should be able to argue about Braunreiter's absence, he did not raise a constitutional claim. (Tr. at 2213, 2346-51.) "[T]his Court will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal. A party may not raise new arguments or change its legal theory on appeal. . . . [I]t is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider." *State v. Martinez*, 2003 MT 65, ¶ 17, 314 Mont. 434, 67 P.3d 307 (citations omitted); *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104(2). Hardy also did not argue he should be able to argue about Braunreiter's absence because the State said he would testify during its opening statement. Hardy waived the arguments he makes on appeal about Braunreiter's absence, so this claim should not be considered.

#### D. Hardy's rights were not infringed.

If this Court considers this claim, it should conclude that prohibiting Hardy from arguing about Braunreiter's absence did not violate Hardy's right to present a defense or his right to counsel. The complete denial of a closing argument violates a defendant's right to counsel. *Herring v. New York*, 422 U.S. 853, 862 (1975). But a defendant's right to make a closing argument is not "uncontrolled or even unrestrained." *Id*.

The presiding judge must be and is given great latitude in controlling the duration and limiting the scope of closing summations. He may limit counsel to a reasonable time and may terminate argument when continuation would be repetitive or redundant. He may ensure that argument does not stray unduly from the mark, or otherwise impede the fair and orderly conduct of the trial.

Id.

Similarly, the right to present a defense "is subject to reasonable restrictions." *United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 308 (1998). "[S]tate and federal rulemakers have broad latitude under the Constitution to establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials. Such rules do not abridge an accused's right to present a defense so long as they are not 'arbitrary' or 'disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve." *Id*.

The record indicates the State believed Braunreiter's information would have been favorable to the State, but it did not call Braunreiter because he would not cooperate and testify. (Tr. at 2345, 2348.) Under those unusual circumstances, the court did not violate Hardy's constitutional rights by barring him from arguing the State had failed to produce Braunreiter. The court's ruling was within its latitude to limit a closing argument to ensure the fair and orderly conduct of the trial. The court reasonably agreed that Hardy should not be able to fault the State for failing to call Braunreiter when Braunreiter would not cooperate as a witness. Thus, the court did not err when it sustained the State's objection to Hardy's question, "Where is Mr. Braunreiter in this trial?" (Tr. at 2477-78.)

Significantly, the court did not limit Hardy's argument that the State's evidence on count three was insufficient to prove count three beyond a reasonable doubt. Indeed, Hardy made that argument, and even argued about Braunreiter's absence. Hardy's counsel argued, without objection, that the State "completely failed" to meet its burden of proof on count three because the "jailhouse informants" had "serious character flaws, one of whom didn't even participate." (Tr. at 2480.) Because he was able to argue the State's evidence was insufficient, his right to present a defense was not violated.

The court also correctly sustained an objection when Hardy's counsel told the jury that Braunreiter would not cooperate with his attempt to depose him. That statement violated the court's prior order and improperly told the jury information that was not in evidence.

Even if the court improperly prohibited Hardy from arguing about Braunreiter's absence, the error would be trial error and is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Automatic reversal is required only for structural error, which is a "rare type of error . . . that infect[s] the entire trial process and necessarily render[s] [it] fundamentally unfair." *Glebe v. Frost*, 574 U.S. 21, 23 (2014) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); *see also State v. Van Kirk*, 2001 MT 184, ¶¶ 38-40, 306 Mont. 215, 32 P.3d 735. In contrast, an error in the presentation of the case to the jury is trial error, which may be harmless. *Van Kirk*,

¶ 40. "[I]f the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless-error analysis." *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 8 (1999). A violation of the right to present a defense involving the improper exclusion of evidence is trial error subject to the harmless error analysis. *See Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 691 (1986); *State v. Mercier*, 2021 MT 12, 403 Mont. 34, 479 P.3d 967 (holding violation of the Confrontation Clause was harmless). This is similar, and harmless error should apply.

Herring does not stand for the proposition that a limitation on a closing argument is structural error. In reversing a grant of habeas relief from the Ninth Circuit, the Supreme Court pointed out in *Frost* that "even assuming that *Herring* established that *complete denial* of summation amounts to structural error, it did not clearly establish that the *restriction* of summation also amounts to structural error." *Frost*, 574 U.S. at 23-24 (*reversing Frost v. Van Boening*, 757 F.3d 910 (9th Cir. 2014)).

The Ninth Circuit concluded in *United States v. Brown*, 859 F.3d 730, 734-37 (9th Cir. 2017), that preventing a defendant from presenting a theory of defense is structural error, but that is distinguishable because Brown was prevented from arguing that the government did not prove an element of its case. That did not occur here. Further, the Ninth Circuit relied on its decision in *Frost v. Van Boening*,

757 F.3d at 916, which the Supreme Court severely criticized on related grounds in *Glebe v. Frost*, 574 U.S. at 23-25. That raises doubt about the validity of the Ninth Circuit's analysis.

And, the Ninth Circuit's holding in *Conde v. Henry*, 198 F.3d 734, 739 (9th Cir. 1999), is not as broad as Hardy claims. Instead, that Ninth Circuit held that a combination of errors, including preventing the defendant from arguing that an offense did not occur and that he lacked the intent to do it, deprived the petitioner of a fair trial and was structural error. *Id.* at 739, 741. *Conde* is distinguishable from this case where the defendant was allowed to, and did, argue that the State had not met its burden to prove he committed the offenses.

Instead, precedent from this Court and the Supreme Court demonstrates that the alleged error is subject to harmless error analysis. *See Crane*, 476 U.S. at 691; *Frost*, 574 U.S. at 23; *Van Kirk*, ¶ 40. A federal constitutional error does not require reversal if it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967); *see also Mercier*, ¶ 31.

The limitation on Hardy's closing was harmless because he was able to argue the State's evidence did not satisfy its burden of proof. Further, Hardy even pointed out that one of the inmates did not "participate" at trial, clearly referring to Braunreiter. The difference between what he was prohibited from arguing and was able to argue is minimal, and it did not prevent him from mounting his defense.

The alleged error is thus harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Finally, even if the court erred and it was not harmless regarding count three, the alleged error should not impact the other three convictions that were not related to Braunreiter.

# IV. Hardy has not met his burden to demonstrate that his prosecutorial misconduct claim should be reviewed under the plain error doctrine.

This court reviews unpreserved prosecutorial misconduct claims only if the claim implicates the defendant's fundamental rights and the defendant demonstrates that failing to review the claim may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the proceedings, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *State v. Haithcox*, 2019 MT 201, ¶ 23, 397 Mont. 103, 447 P.3d 452. This court invokes plain error review "sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, according to narrow circumstances, and by considering the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* (quotation marks and citation omitted).

"A prosecutor's misconduct may be grounds for reversing a conviction and granting a new trial if the conduct deprives the defendant of a fair and impartial trial." *Haithcox*, ¶ 24 (quotation marks and citation omitted). But this Court will not reverse a conviction for prosecutorial misconduct unless the defendant shows that the prosecutor's conduct violated his substantial rights. *Id.* "[I]t is not enough that the prosecutors' remarks were undesirable or even universally

condemned." *Id.*, quoting *Darden v. Wainwright*, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986). "[T]he relevant question is whether the comments 'so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." *Haithcox*, ¶ 24. A few imperfect statements or questions asked over the course of a nine-day trial do not meet that standard.

Hardy has not demonstrated that his complaints should be reviewed under the plain error standard. To begin with, two witness statements Hardy faults the prosecutors for were not directly elicited by the prosecutors. First, a serologist responding to the prosecutor's request to summarize what he had done mentioned a sexual assault kit in a list of things that he analyzed. (Tr. at 2105.) There was no testimony directly relating the sexual assault kit to Hardy or his daughter. Without that context, it was a brief and harmless reference.

Second, a prosecutor asked the officer who interviewed Karen in Sidney about her demeanor. The officer responded that she

was obviously very emotional, very upset, and [was] showing indications of fear just based—like the visible trembling that she was showing and her voice was shaky at times, especially when she was going into intimate details about the homicides.

But throughout the entire account of the interview, she seemed very specific and detailed to the point where she was believable to us.

(Tr. at 1381.)

While the statement that Karen was believable was improper, the question the prosecutor asked, and most of the officer's answer, properly addressed the fear Karen demonstrated.

Two other photographs Hardy challenges were never discussed at trial. A photo of an assault rifle appeared "for a few seconds" during the State's presentation of crime scene photographs. (*See* Tr. at 1688.) The prosecutor explained it was "inadvertent certainly," and he had believed it had been removed from the disk. (Tr. 1689.) No comment was made about it to the jury. (*Id.*)

Hardy argues that the State erroneously admitted a letter denying Hardy's passport application based on an arrest warrant. But only a photograph of that letter is in the record, and it was one of 208 documents contained on a disk admitted at the same time as ten other disks. (State's Ex. 53; Tr. at 1423.) There is no indication the letter was ever displayed to the jury or that the jury had the ability to view photographs contained on the disk that were not displayed in the courtroom.

While there may have been two inadvertent statements made by a witness or a photograph inadvertently shown during the nine-day trial, there is no indication the prosecutors intentionally violated an order or that these incidents rendered the trial unfair.

Hardy's other criticisms also fail to establish prosecutorial misconduct.

Each party may provide an opening statement outlining the evidence it intends to

present if the "statements are made in good faith and with reasonable ground to believe the evidence is admissible." *State ex rel. Fitzgerald v. District Court*, 217 Mont. 106, 122-23, 703 P.2d 148, 158 (1985). In the opening statement, the prosecutor summarized the evidence, including statements that had been made. While it would have been better for the prosecutor to frame the evidence as testimony the State believed would be presented, Hardy did not object. Had he done so, the prosecutor could easily have reframed her statements. Regardless, statements from the prosecutor were plainly the summary of the evidence the State expected to give, rather than evidence for the jury to consider. That did not deprive Hardy of a fair trial.

While Braunreiter did not subsequently testify, the State's request for the court to admonish Braunreiter before his testimony indicates the State planned to call him. Its later failure to do so does not establish the State acted in bad faith.

Similarly, the State's presentation of Karen's prior statements does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct. While prior consistent statements are not admissible for the truth of the matter asserted, they may be admissible to explain how and why an investigation proceeded. *City of Billings v. Nolan*, 2016 MT 266, ¶ 28, 385 Mont. 190, 383 P.3d 219. The statements elicited by the prosecutor explained the reason for the search of the property and why evidence was seized that corroborated Karen's story. (*See* Tr. at 1379-80.) The prosecutor stated that

the statements were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. (Tr. at 1378.) Even if the questions were broader than necessary, they did not result in an unfair trial. Karen provided the same testimony at trial, and her prior statements, if erroneously admitted, were harmless. *See State v. Mensing*, 1999 MT 303, ¶ 18, 297 Mont. 172, 991 P.2d 950 (stating that prior consistent statements are harmless where the declarant testifies at trial).

Finally, the prosecutor's closing argument appropriately emphasized the many sources of evidence corroborating Karen's story, both witness testimony and physical evidence. (*See* Tr. at 2440-61.) As part of that discussion, the prosecutor stated that "it's not just Karen that has to be making this up for the defendant's story to be true." (Tr. at 2460.) The prosecutor then stated that the witnesses who provided testimony about Hardy's actions after the homicides "would have to be lying," along with the inmates. (*Id.*) He also pointed out the physical and financial evidence that supported Karen's story. (Tr. at 2461.)

The prosecutor's statement that each witness had to be lying for Hardy's story to be true was an exaggeration, but it was an argument about the amount of evidence corroborating Karen's testimony. The prosecutor never suggested that the jury should ignore the State's burden of proof or that the jury had to find that anybody lied to acquit Hardy. The jurors were repeatedly instructed that they had to find Hardy guilty beyond a reasonable doubt to convict. (Doc. 368, Instr. Nos.

4, 21-22, 24-25.) Jurors are presumed to follow the law, and the prosecutor's argument did not rebut that presumption.

Hardy has not met his burden to demonstrate failing to review the claim may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice. If reviewed, the claim should be denied. If some imperfections occurred during the nine-day trial, they did not impact the outcome or result in a fundamentally unfair trial. Hardy has thus failed to establish prosecutorial misconduct.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Hardy's convictions for homicide and solicitation to commit homicide should be affirmed. If this Court concludes that any error occurred, the convictions for homicide, at a minimum, should be affirmed because any error would be harmless as to those convictions given the overwhelming evidence of Hardy's guilt.